Questions and Answers for the 
Minnesota Emerging Entrepreneur Fund RFP

Demographics and Geography
Question - The program provides loans to Minnesota businesses that are majority-owned and operated by minorities, low-income persons, women, veterans and/or persons with disabilities. I have a question regarding people who identify themselves as a woman, but are physically a man. Have you discussed how you would handle this?
Answer - Minnesota Statute identifies a "woman" as a person of the female gender. Gender is a social construct and is not considered the biological sex of a person. As such, each borrower will need to self-certify that they meet one (or more) of the borrower qualifications meaning that if an individual identifies as a women, they would certify that they are a women. This approach is an inclusive approach and recognizes that social construct of the term "female gender."
Question - How is low income defined?
Answer - There are two definitions in law – one based on geography and one based on an individual’s income.  Because the language in the law isn’t consistent, DEED is working with the State Demographer to better clarify the definitions.
Question - Is low income based on geography or the business owner’s income?
Answer - There are two low income components to the program. The business owner’s low income status qualifies them as a borrower under the program. Businesses located in low income geographic areas will have priority to access funds from the program.
Question - Will low-income be defined by census tract?
Answer - We are working with demographer’s office to determine low-income definitions
Question - Is all of Greater Minnesota considered low income?
Answer - Yes, per statute. Low income definitions are being developed for the Metro.
Question - Will there be a certain number of lenders focused on each emerging entrepreneur group?
Answer - DEED wants to have lenders that cover each group named under the program and each region of the state, but does not have targets for number of lenders serving specific groups or areas.
Question - Is the program available throughout Minnesota?
Answer - Yes, funds will be allocated in approximately equal amounts to Greater Minnesota and the 7-county Metro through September 30th of each year and remaining funds will be available to any area of the state for the remainder of the calendar year.
Question - How will geography factor in for approved lenders?
Answer - This program should touch all corners of state. 
Question - Is a lender geographically limited by the area it normally serves?
Answer - The program designed to be flexible and will allow the lender to make loans outside of their geographic area if the lender so chooses. The lender should state in its application which geographic area(s) it expects to serve.  However, DEED may not approve a loan if the program is experiencing low activity in Greater Minnesota or in the Twin Cities area.
Question - Can multiple lenders from the same geographic area apply and be approved?
Answer - There are no limitations to the number of lenders from a specific geographic region that could be approved under the program.
Nonprofit Lender Requirements and Characteristics
Question - Can a 501(c)(6) organization apply to be an Emerging Entrepreneur Program lender?
Answer - Yes. The law authorizing the program only specifies that a lender is required to be a nonprofit corporation.
Question - Is it the applicant organization’s responsibility to ensure they fit within the RFP guidelines?
Answer - Yes.
Question - Must all loans made under the program be provided by approved nonprofit lenders?
Answer - Yes.
Question - Can a nonprofit with no lending experience apply?
Answer - Yes, but it will be evaluated against other applicants that may have more lending experience.
Question - Could a local unit of government or an EDA serve as a lender?
Answer - Only if it is a nonprofit with access to non-public matching funds.
Question - Are nonprofit lenders required to be designated under section 501(c)(3) of the federal tax code?
Answer - No, lenders designated under other sections of the tax code such as 501(c)(4) and 501(c)(6) are also eligible to apply.
Question - Do nonprofits need to be federally designated?
Answer - Nonprofit status is generally federally designated.
Question - Does the lender need to be a certified CDFI?
Answer - No.
Question - What information should be provided regarding the lender’s success rate?
Answer - No specific metrics are required other than those listed in the RFP. Each lender should provide any information that works best with their lending programs. The RFP requests a variety of data to help gauge success including default rate and success stories.
Question - Are there limitations if applying to or receiving funds from other DEED programs?
Answer - No. You may apply for the Minnesota Emerging Entrepreneur Program as well as other DEED programs.
Question - What are the expectations for technical assistance?
Answer - The RFP includes questions about technical assistance and the program assumes that approved lenders will provide some type of technical assistance either directly or through partner organizations.
Question - Are joint applications allowed?
Answer - The RFP is designed to have one lender per application. A lender may apply with a technical assistance partner.
Question - How will DEED account for differences in the experience and types of lenders?
Answer - This is one of the criteria addressed in the RFP.
Question - The RFP requires submission of the applicant’s annual report to the Minnesota Attorney General. What should an organization provide if it does not annually report to the AG?
Answer - There may be circumstances under which an annual report to the AG is not required, such as if the organization does not solicit funds. If you do not have this report, please explain why you are not required to file with the AG.
Question - Does the lender need to be certified as a loan originator with the Department of Commerce?
Answer - Small business lenders do not need a regulated lender license for small business lending unless they are making loans to sole proprietorships in amounts less than $100,000 at rates above 5.5%.
Question - When will new lenders be admitted? Will there be an annual RFP?
Answer - There will be an RFP issued at least every five years, but the next one may be issued in as little as two years, especially if there is a service gap.
Question - Will lenders need to reapply every year?
Answer - No. Lenders may need to reapply in the future (at least every five years), but not annually. Lenders may be removed from the program for poor performance. Lenders may also remain in the program, but have funds reallocated.
Question – What if I don’t have recent audited financial statements?
Answer - We are aware of the costs associated with an audit, but also recognize the need (and importance) to provide these taxpayer funds to organizations that are financially sound.  Submit the most recent audits you have and the selection team will use that available information to make eligibility and funding decisions.  Reviewed and/or complied financial statements may be part of the submission packet if recent audited financials are not available.
Program Allocations and Matching Funds
Question - Should the lender request a certain level of funding?
Answer - The process is two-fold. We will first determine eligible lenders and then determine the appropriate allocation for each lender with the 50%/50% parameters in mind. In Section V. D. (Program Timelines and Budget), the RFP notes that applicants should provide a plan that reflects expected activities. This plan will be used to help allocate funds for each eligible lender.
Question - How will allocations be determined?
Answer - Applicants may specify the amount of allocation they would be able to use in their applications. Program expectations will be based upon information provided in the applications. However, approved lenders may not receive the full amount requested in their application.
Question - Will lenders be approved with specific allocations beyond the $2 million currently available?
Answer - No, only funds currently available will be allocated.
Question - Will each lender be approved for a set amount?
Answer - Yes. There are two steps. First, a lender must be approved under the program. Second, the lender may be allocated funds under the program. It is possible for a lender to be approved but not receive an allocation.
Question - Why might a lender be approved but not receive an allocation?
Answer - In order to receive an allocation, the lender must demonstrate a need for the funds in addition to being a qualified lender.  In addition, the program needs to ensure that funds are delivered to all give groups across the entire state.  
Question - If a lender does not initially receive an allocation, does that mean they will never receive an allocation from the program?
Answer - No. If they are approved as a qualified lender, there will be opportunities to demonstrate the need for an allocation from the program.
Question - Will organizations be allocated funds in the same way they were for Urban Initiative?
Answer - Yes, there will be specific allocations to approved lenders.
Question - Are the funds time constrained for disbursements to lenders or from lenders?
Answer - All funds that are part of the annual allocation must be disbursed by the lender during the specified fiscal year.
Question - Is there a set length of time to disburse if the lender has extra funds?
Answer - Funds will be distributed based on each transaction, so the lender will not have “extra” or surplus funds. If an approved transaction is not finalized, funds disbursed for that transaction should be immediately returned to DEED.
Question - What happens if the lender has not spent or is not on pace to spend their entire allocation?
Answer - DEED will revisit balances if they are not being spent down and may adjust an allocation in order to ensure that program funds are being used.
Question - When should a lender notify DEED if they will be unable to use their full allocation?
Answer - For funds that expire each year, DEED will be in close contact with the lender to ensure those funds will be used. For funds that do not have time limitations, DEED will check in at least every six months regarding unused funds and may choose to redistribute an allocation if it is not being used.
Question - Do all funds remain at the state level versus being held by the lender?
Answer - Yes, funds will be distributed once a project is approved, not in a lump sum up front, and all principal repayments must be returned to DEED.
Question - How will funds that are and are not tied to the fiscal year be designated?
Answer - DEED will notify the lender of any time constraints on their allocation. It is possible a lender would receive some funds with fiscal year time constraints and some without.
Question - If an organization is making very short term loans, would they be able to immediately reuse those funds upon repayment?
Answer - The statutory time limit for allocated funds is applicable only on the first use of the funds. An approved lender must return all repaid principal to DEED and request an additional allocation if they would like to lend funds in an amount that exceeds their available allocation.
Question - What types of funds qualify for the 1:1 match?
Matching funds must be non-public. The program would allow government guaranteed financing that was originated by a private source, e.g. an SBA-guaranteed bank loan.
Question - Do matching funds need to come from the lender? Is local participation required for the match?
Answer - Matching funds can come from the lender, the business, or a third party such as a bank. The lender must be able to demonstrate in its application that it will be able to acquire matching funds.
Loan Underwriting and Servicing
Question - What is a typical timeline to approve loans?
Answer - DEED approval should take about a week if the application is complete.
Question - What is the timing to receive funds once a new project is approved?
Answer - One to two weeks, dependent on when the request occurs in the state disbursement schedule.
Question - Are loan documents generated by the lender or DEED?
Answer - The lender will use their own legal documents for each loan.
Question - Will DEED influence lending terms of approved lenders?
Answer - It would be up to each borrower to ensure that they find the lender whose program is best suited to their company.
Question - Is there a set term for loans under the program?
Answer - The term of the loan is up to the lender. Estimates regarding the proposed term of loans should be included in the lender’s proposal.
Question - What are the collateral requirements?
Answer - Lenders should use their standard judgment and guidelines regarding collateral, credit, and other lending standards.
Question - Are any terms set under the program other than the maximum interest rate and origination fee?
Answer - No. Lenders should otherwise use their own lending guidelines but recognize that additional fees are not allowed.
Question - If a loan requires additional collections efforts, will lenders be allowed to roll those fees into loan balances?
Answer - No, the legislation assumes interest and origination fees will cover the cost of administering the program, including collections.
Question - Do servicing actions need secondary approval?
Answer - No, but the lender will need to report on their servicing efforts.
Question - Is there recourse on loans that default?
Answer - The program does not require repayment of outstanding principal balances by lenders for loans that “go south” as long as reasonable efforts have been made by the lender to collect on the loan. The term “reasonable” will be defined the agreement between DEED and the lender.
Question - Are loans with a longer amortization schedule with a balloon payment allowed under the program?
Answer – Yes.
Question - Are loan terms tied to the length of the program?
Answer - If the program were to end prior to a loan’s maturity date, the lender would continue to be responsible for remitting principal repayments to DEED. 
Question - When will the program begin accepting loan packages?
Answer - DEED expects to have funds allocated and begin accepting loans for approval in January 2017.
Question - What type of due diligence will DEED conduct on submitted loan packages?
Answer - DEED will confirm that the loan is eligible under the program, but will be reliant upon approved lenders to follow their own underwriting standards.  The department will review the loan package to ensure eligibility and that the lender completed the underwriting process.
Question - Can multiple lenders provide funds to the same business?
Answer - Lenders may collaborate on a project, but only one lender would be able to access program funds for the project.
Question - Is alternative financing, such as Sharia compatible financing, allowed under the program?
Answer - Yes. The program is designed to be flexible and allow non-traditional financing.
Question - Are there any constraints on the lender’s use of the loan origination fee or interest from the loans?
Answer - The origination fee and interest should be used for administrative costs or for other loans.
Question - Can approved lenders lend to retail businesses?
Answer - Retail businesses may only receive loans under the microlending guidelines outlined in the RFP and statutes.
Question - Do retail establishments qualify for $5,000-$50,000 throughout Greater Minnesota?
Answer – Yes, because the law defines all areas outside the 7-county area as low-income for the purposes of this program.
Question - What is the definition of retail under the program?
Answer - Retail means that items are sold principally at the place of business to the final user. This definition would include vendors at farmers markets.  
Other Information
Question - How will the program operate?
Answer - Once a lender has been approved and funds have been allocated, the lender will forward any approved loans to DEED for approval fund disbursement. The RFP has more details on the program process and procedures.
Question - What is the relationship between the program and the Urban Initiative Program (UIP) and the Emerging Entrepreneurs Fund (EEF)?
Answer - UIP and EEF were used as a framework for this program. UIP ended June 30, 2016. Any funds remaining or repaid to UIP will be rolled into the new program. EEF will remain open until funds are exhausted.
Question - What are the reporting requirements?
Answer - Annual reporting will be required for each loan until the loan is paid.
Question - Are there job creation guidelines for projects?
Answer - There are no job creation requirements. The program is designed to help the businesses. However, job creation will be part of the reporting for the program.
Question - Will program trends be shared?
Answer - There will be an annual report to the legislature that will be shared.
Question - Is there any timeframe for the end of the program?
Answer - No. The statute was written to provide a new allocation to the program each year.
Question - Will a list of approved lenders be available?
Answer - Yes.
Question - Does DEED have proposal writing resources or other application assistance available?
Answer - DEED can only assist by answering questions about the RFP. DEED cannot assist directly in the writing of the proposals as this is a competitive process. An applicant’s community partners may have resources an applicant could access to assist with the proposal.
